1992

Lamar Greene Mitchell v. Marlene Carol Mitchell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of this court is in accordance with Rule 3 (a) Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and is an appeal from a Third District Court order.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The principal issue is that the Plaintiff contends that the residence of the parties was awarded to the Defendant without adequate findings of fact. The value of the residence appears to be in excess of \$100,000. There were no findings of fact setting forth the value of the residence (R-237). The statute requires equitable division of the property (Section 30-3-5) (1) Utah Code Annotated 1953. The case law supports this statute and broadens it.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Section 30-3-4 (1) Utah Code Annotated requires "the Court or the commissioner in all divorce cases shall make and file findings and decree upon the evidence." (See addendum.)

Section 30-3-5 (1) Utah Code Annotated provides that "When a decree of divorce is rendered the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, --- and parties." (emphasis added). (See addendum.)

Rule 52(a) Utah Rules of Civil Procedures --- "Effect. In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state

separately its conclusions of law thereon, and judgment shall be entered pursuant to Rule 58 A; ---" (see addendum).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(a) Nature of the Case

This case is a divorce action which was filed November 14, 1990.

(b) Course of Proceeding

A decree of divorce was entered March 2, 1992, (R-232) awarding the divorce and awarding personal and real property to each of the parties. The Plaintiff had failed to answer interrogatories, his pleadings were stricken, his default entered and the trial was held in the absence of the Plaintiff. Judgment was filed March 12, 1992 (R-236). Defendant filed a motion for a new trial or motion to vacate thereafter.

(c) Disposition at Trial Court

The Court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment on March 12, 1992. The Plaintiff filed a motion for a new trial which was denied.

The basic reason for the motion for a new trial was Rule 60 (b) and (3) and (7). The contention of the Plaintiff set forth in his affidavit (R-237) is substantially to the effect that findings of fact were not entered as a basis for the equitable distribution of all of the real property in accordance with the statutes and law of the state. That is, that no dollar values were ascribed to any of the real property. The motion for a new trial or to vacate judgment was intended leave the decree of

divorce standing, but vacating it as to property distribution.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court made findings of fact (R-228, paragraph 10) that the personal property had been divided in a manner between the parties they believed to be fair and equitable. The real property was divided between the parties with the home going to the Defendant and two smaller pieces of property in the southern part of the valley going to the Plaintiff. (R-228 par 8 and 9).

The record of the findings of fact and conclusions of law (R-226, R-228) reflects in finding paragraph 8 "---the court further finds that the Defendant should be awarded the home and and the real estate of the parties at 2183 Oneida Street, free and clear of any claims of the Plaintiff, ---" The findings of facts further goes on in paragraph 9 to award the Plaintiff the other two pieces of real estate in Southern Salt Lake County. The record totally fails to determine any value or approximation of value between those two awards as to their equality or to their actual value. The findings of fact on the personal property reflect in paragraph 10 (R-228) that the trial court cited "---that their personal property has already been divided between them in a manner they believe is fair and equitable." There is no such comparison findings as to the real property. There does not appear to be any way, such as in the *Roberts'* case, how the appellate court can review the findings of fact relating to the real property distribution and determine whether or not it is an equitable distribution.

ARGUMENT

Point 1

THE STATUTE REQUIRES THAT THE COURT MAKE AND FILE FINDINGS FACT AND THE DECREE IN THE DIVORCE ACTION.

In Section 30-3-4 (1) Utah Code Annotated --- "The court or the commissioner in all divorce cases shall make and file findings and decree upon the evidence." Rule 52 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure supplements this section stating "(a) Effect. In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon, and judgment shall be entered pursuant to Rule 58 A; ---"

Point 2

THE STATUTE REQUIRES THAT THE COURT INCLUDE CERTAIN ITEMS IN THE DECREE OF DIVORCE AND INDICATES THAT "--- THE COURT MAY INCLUDE IN IT EQUITABLE ORDERS RELATING TO THE CHILDREN, PROPERTY, --- AND PARTIES."

Section 30-3-5 (1) Utah Code Annotated provides as follows.

"When a decree of divorce is rendered the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, --- and parties." (emphasis added)

Point 3

WHILE THE TRIAL COURT HAS CONSIDERABLE DISCRETION TO ENTER EQUITABLE ORDERS CONCERNING PROPERTY DISTRIBUTION, THE DISTRIBUTION MUST BE BASED UPON ADEQUATE FACTUAL FINDINGS, AND FAILURE TO MAKE FINDINGS ON ALL MATERIAL FACTS IS REVERSIBLE

ERROR UNLESS THE FACTS IN THE RECORD ARE CLEAR, UNCONTROVERTED AND CAPABLE OF SUPPORTING ONLY A FINDING IN FAVOR OF THE JUDGMENT.

In the case of *Haumont v. Haumont* 793 P.2d 421 1990, the court of appeals, speaking through Judge Garff, citing *Munns v. Munns* 790 P.2d 116, recited "---in dividing a marital estate the trial court has considerable discretion to enter equitable orders concerning property distribution. Orders will not be disturbed so long as the trial court exercises its discretion in accordance with the standard set by this state's appellate courts --- except where to do so would work a manifest injustice or inequity." The major purpose of a property division, in conjunction with an alimony award, "---is to achieve a fair, just, and equitable result between the parties." (emphasis added)

"To permit appellate review of the trial court's property distribution, just as in the determination of alimony, the distribution must be based upon adequate factual findings." *Munns*, 790 P.2d at 119. "Failure to make findings on all material facts is reversible error unless the facts in the record are clear, uncontroverted and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment." *Andersen v. Andersen*, 757 P.2d at 479.

In *Roberts v. Roberts*, 188 Utah Advance Reports 26, #910099-CA, May 28, 1992, the Court, speaking through Judge Jackson, affirmed the principle in *Munns* that considerable discretion of the trial court would not be disturbed on appeal as long as the

trial court exercises that discretion in harmony with the standards set by the appellate courts. The court went further on to hold in citing *Munns*, "to accommodate review, the court's distribution must be based on adequate findings which ---place a dollar value on the distributed assets," (emphasis added) again citing *Munns*. The court in the Roberts' case determined that the findings of fact, the conclusions of law, and the decree based upon them in which many dollar values were recited, and although the division of property was not exactly equal, the court stated: "Taking the value of all the parties' assets and liabilities as a whole, a disparity of this type would not be so disproportionate as to be an abuse of the court's discretion in making an equitable distribution."