1992

Lamar Greene Mitchell v. Marlene Carol Mitchell : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is pursuant to Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This is an appeal from a final order of the Third District Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. WAS THE COURT BELOW REQUIRED TO MAKE SPECIFIC FINDINGS OF FACT BASED ON EVIDENCE WHEN THE DIVORCE WAS GRANTED BY DEFAULT BASED ON APPELLANTS FAILURE TO OBEY COURT ORDERS.**
- 2. DO THE FINDINGS THE COURT MADE, BASED ON THE APPELLEE'S COUNTERCLAIM, SUGGEST AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, OR WERE THEY FAIR IN SPITE OF THE DEFAULT.**
- 3. SHOULD THE APPELLEE BE AWARDED HER COSTS OF COURT AND ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL.**

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The text of the statutory provisions relevant to this case are contained in Appendix A. Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 37 (b)(2)(C). Utah Code Annotated 30-3-3. Utah Code Annotated 30-3-5 (1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lamar Greene Mitchell ("Lamar"), the plaintiff/appellant in this matter, sued his wife Marlene Carol Mitchell ("Marlene"), the defendant/appellee, for divorce on November 14, 1990. (R. 2). Shortly thereafter Lamar's counsel withdrew and no longer represented him. (R. 41). Lamar appeared pro se for the pendency of his divorce proceedings. Lamar was sent notice to appoint new counsel on April 1, 1991. (R. 43). Lamar took no action toward appointing new counsel.

Because Marlene had virtually no information of Lamar's income a deposition was scheduled for June 27, 1991. Lamar was mailed a Notice of Deposition on June 4, 1991. (R. 45). The deposition was scheduled for three weeks after notice was mailed to Lamar. (R. 46). It was set three weeks in advance in order to allow Lamar time to obtain counsel if he so desired. Marlene's counsel mailed a letter to Lamar on June 20, 1991, prior to the deposition, advising Lamar of the importance of appearing at the deposition and informing Lamar that sanctions were available to Marlene if Lamar failed to appear. (R. 59). Lamar thereafter made statements to Marlene indicating he would not appear for deposition.

Marlene's counsel, in an effort to insure Lamar had adequate notice of the deposition, had Lamar personally served with the notice of deposition and a copy of the letter dated June 20, 1991. Service was accomplished on June 25, 1991, two days before the deposition. (R. 63). In spite of all of Marlene's efforts to assure Lamar's attendance his deposition, to wit, mailing Notice of Deposition, mailing letter, personal service of Notice of Deposition and letter, Lamar still failed to appear for deposition at the time scheduled.

Marlene made a motion to the District Court, to compel Lamar's attendance for deposition pursuant to Rule 37 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 49). This motion requested the Court award her costs of court and attorney's fees incurred in scheduling, preparing for, and attempting to take Lamar's deposition. (R. 49). Additionally, Marlene asked the lower court to order Lamar to appear for deposition within ten (10) days of being notified of his second scheduled deposition, and requested that the Court grant her sanctions against Lamar, which included dismissing Lamar's Complaint should he again fail to appear for his scheduled deposition. (R. 51).

Copies of the Motion to Compel were sent to Lamar. He to provide any response. (R. 75). A Notice to Submit the matter for decision was subsequently filed by Marlene and a copy mailed to Lamar. (R. 76, 77). On August 20, 1991, the Court granted Marlene's Motion to Compel, awarded fees, and reserved sanctions. (R. 79).

Marlene scheduled Lamar's deposition a second time for September 17, 1991. (R. 81). Marlene mailed notice to Lamar at two separate addresses based on information that Lamar may have moved during the interim period. (R. 82). Neither of the Notices of Deposition sent to Lamar were ever returned to the office of Marlene's counsel. Lamar again failed to appear for his deposition on September 17, 1991.

Marlene filed a Motion for Sanctions based upon Lamar's second failure to appear at his deposition. (R. 109). The Motion for Sanctions requested that Lamar's Complaint be stricken, and that his default be entered with respect to Marlene's Counterclaim. (R. 113). The Motion for Sanctions further requested that a default hearing be set for the taking of testimony from Marlene in support of her Counterclaim. (R. 113). The motion also

requested that she be awarded all her costs of court and attorney's fees incurred in bringing and maintaining her Motion for Sanctions and that she be awarded further judgement at the time of the hearing on her Counterclaim for her reasonable costs of court and attorney's fees incurred in the action not previously reduced to judgment. (R. 113). Lamar was mailed a copy of this motion, and after the appropriate waiting period, a copy of a Notice to Submit for Decision. (R. 163, 164).

The Court granted Marlene's motion on January 15, 1992, striking the Plaintiff's complaint, and entering his default on Marlene's counterclaim. (R. 167). On February 25, 1992, a hearing was held before the Honorable Judge Homer Wilkinson to hear testimony on Marlene's Counterclaim. (R. 226). Marlene appeared and testified concerning jurisdiction, grounds, and other matters of interest to the lower court. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree of Divorce were signed by the Court on or about March 2, 1992. (R. 230, 235). Copies of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree were sent to Lamar.

The trial court made findings of fact based on to Marlene's Counterclaim that divided the real property. Marlene received the home which was her property prior to the marriage, free and clear of any interest of Lamar. (R. 228). Lamar received two pieces of property, which the parties acquired during their marriage with marital funds and which were held jointly by the parties. (R. 228). One was a five (5) acre lot in South Oquirrh Estates, and the other was a home located at Fifth North and Eighth West. (R. 228).

On March 12, 1992, Lamar, through his newly appointed counsel, Boyd M. Fullmer, filed a Motion for a New Trial or Motion to Vacate Judgment under Rules 59 and 60 of the

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in an effort to obtain a different property division. (R. 236). Lamar did not file his Affidavit in support of his motion until more than two weeks later, after March 26, 1992. (R. 238). Lamar's Motion for a New Trial or Motion to Vacate Judgment was denied by Judge Wilkinson by minute entry on April 27, 1992. (R. 255). Lamar appealed to this court and has filed appellants brief. This brief is written in response.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is a settled point of law that the findings of fact of a trial court in a divorce proceeding will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. This divorce was a default proceeding granted by way of sanctions imposed on Lamar for his failure to comply with discovery. Lamar should not now be able to use the judicial process to continue his dispute with Marlene because he is unhappy with a situation he created. There was no abuse by the trial court and therefore its ruling should be upheld.

In addition, Utah law requires that the division of property between the parties be fair, just and equitable. This does not in any way mean equal. There is no indication the trial court would have ruled any differently if Lamar had complied with discovery and there had been a full trial instead of a default proceeding.

The limited issues presented on appeal do not contain a "close question" of law. Lamar's position is without merit. Marlene should be awarded her costs of appeal and attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE TRIAL COURT WERE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. THE DIVORCE WAS GRANTED BY DEFAULT BECAUSE OF LAMAR'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH COURT ORDERS.

This court should uphold the findings of fact and the default judgment of the court below and let the property division stand. The findings made were based on the counterclaim. This was because, Lamar, by his behavior, caused his default to be entered.

The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure contemplate a situation where a party's complaint may be stricken and a judgment by default entered against a party who fails to comply with a court order to comply with discovery. UTAH R. CIV. P. 37 (b)(2)(C). Sanctions may be imposed when there is a showing of willful failure to comply with discovery. *Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 961 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Willful failure is defined as "any intentional failure as distinguished from involuntary noncompliance. No wrongful intent need be shown." *Id.*

As to the findings of fact found by the trial court, this court has stated that it "will not disturb the trial court's findings of fact in a divorce proceeding unless such findings are clearly erroneous." *Hagan v. Hagan*, 810 P.2d 478, 481 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

On appeal, it is the burden of the party seeking to overturn the trial court's decision to "marshall the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of the evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous.'"

Id. (quoting *In re Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989) (quoting *State v. Walker*, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987))); *see also Riche v. Riche*, 784 P.2d 465, 468 (Utah Ct.

App. 1989).

Hagan v. Hagan, 810 P.2d 478 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), involved a default divorce. In that case the husband filed the original complaint, findings of fact and conclusions of law and the decree of divorce. The wife gave her written consent to the allegations and default. Subsequent to the divorce both parties filed separated petitions to modify their divorce decree, both of which were denied. The specific finding of fact relating to the couples martial home, on which the court based its decision read as follows: "A residence located at 3699 South 2300 East, Salt Lake City, Utah" This finding reflected the description of the property in the original complaint. This court held that "in [default] proceedings, 'a defaulting party should expect that the relief granted will not exceed or substantially differ from that sought in the complaint.' . . . It is, therefore, abundantly equitable that [the parties] be strictly held to the provisions which [they] created." *Hagan*, 810 P.2d at 481 (quoting *Holt v. Holt*, 672 P.2d 738, 741 (Utah 1983)).

Such is the case presented to the court here. Lamar had adequate notice of the motion for sanctions filed against him, including the possibility a default would be entered against him based on his wife's Counterclaim. The findings of fact entered by the court were based on Marlene's Counterclaim. It is only fair to acknowledge the fact that Lamar himself created the situation that he is now complaining about. Lamar was under court order to appear at deposition, he failed to appear a two scheduled depositions. Lamar also failed to respond to any of the motions that were filed by Marlene. By doing nothing Lamar prolonged the divorce much longer than was necessary. This divorce might still be pending before the lower court if not for the sanctions granted by Judge Wilkinson. Because Lamar

himself made it impossible for the court to make findings that were any more specific than they were, and because his failure to comply with discovery was "willful" it is "abundantly equitable that [Lamar] be strictly held to the provisions" stated in the Counterclaim. *Id.* at 481.

Therefore, this court should affirm the ruling of the court below and let the property division stand.

II. A TRIAL COURT HAS CONSIDERABLE DISCRETION TO ENTER EQUITABLE ORDERS RELATING TO PROPERTY WHICH WILL NOT BE DISTURBED ABSENT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

Lamar is not necessarily entitled to an equal division of property, but he is entitled to a equitable division of property. The trial court's division of real property is sufficiently equitable. The Utah Code provides that "[w]hen a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, debts or obligations, and parties." UTAH CODE ANN. section 30-3-5(1). "The overriding consideration is that the ultimate division be equitable--that property be fairly divided between the parties given their contributions to the marriage and their circumstances at the time of the divorce." *Burt v. Burt*, 799 P.2d 1166, 1172 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (quoting *Newmeyer v. Newmeyer*, 745 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1987)). In entering an order dividing property the trial court should "consider the existence of exceptional circumstances and, if any be shown, proceed to effect an equitable distribution in light of those circumstances . . . " *Burt*, 799 P.2d at 1172 (emphasis added). "In entering equitable orders to divide the marital estate, the trial court has considerable discretion, which . . . will not [be] disturb[ed] on appeal, as long as the

trial court exercises this discretion in harmony with the standards set by the appellate courts." *Roberts v. Roberts*, 835 P.2d 193, 198 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

In the instant case the trial court performed its job admirably given the difficulty presented by Lamar's refusal to comply with discovery. The trial court awarded Marlene the marital home, which belonged to her prior to her marriage to Lamar and on which she has made the majority of the mortgage payments. During the marriage this home was encumbered by a second mortgage in the amount of approximately \$8,000 plus interest to benefit Lamar in his business. Lamar was awarded two pieces of property, a five acre parcel located in South Oquirrh Estates, and a home located at Fifth North and Sixth West, Salt Lake City free and clear of any interest in Marlene.

It is difficult to see how the trial court abused its discretion in the distribution of the parties real property. Both parties were awarded a home and Lamar was awarded an additional five acre piece of property. Neither of the parties was prejudiced by the division, and given the exceptional circumstance of Lamar's uncooperation, the property division was equitable. Therefore, this court should uphold the ruling of the trial court and let the property division stand as presently divided.

III. MARLENE SHOULD BE AWARDED HER COSTS OF COURT AND ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL.

Marlene has incurred \$74.82 in costs on appeal and \$1,493.00 in attorney's fees (see appendix C, the affidavits of David A. McPhie and Lori Nelson, on costs and fees).

Lamar caused his default to be entered by not complying with orders on discovery,,

and then complains on appeal that Judge Wilkinson's findings are not specific enough. The court below awarded Marlene her reasonable attorney's fees and costs against Lamar.

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 30-3-3 the court has the power to award attorney fees on appeal, especially if the prevailing party was awarded fees in the proceedings below. "Ordinarily, when fees in a divorce were awarded below to the party who then prevails on appeal, fees will also be awarded to that party on appeal." *Bell v. Bell*, 810 P.2d 489 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (quoting *Burt v. Burt*, 799 P.2d 1166, 1171 (Utah Ct. App. 1990)).

In addition, "when an appeal is frivolous, . . . , we will award fees regardless of the trial court's ruling on fees." *Burt v. Burt*, 799 P.2d 1166, 1171 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Marlene was awarded fees by the court below. Therefore, if she indeed prevails before this court her fees should be awarded to her for defending this appeal. Especially in light of the fact that, in the opinion of the appellee, this appeal is without merit.

CONCLUSION


Because the divorce was a default proceeding and not a trial, the court's findings of fact reasonably reflect the Counterclaim on which they were based, and were therefore, not "clearly erroneous." Lamar had substantial notice his default would be entered as a sanction and it is more than fair that he be required to abide by the findings as reflected in his wife's Counterclaim.

A trial court has considerable discretion to enter equitable orders relating to the division of property. In entering these orders the court may look at any mitigating factors.

Lamar's refusal to comply with discovery prevented the lower court from being able to consider evidence. Lamar cannot now claim that the findings are unfair or lacking in specificity when it was Lamar who would not participate in the gathering of evidence.

Therefore, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed, and Marlene awarded her costs and fees on appeal.